of the

MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB

ARTICLE I

SECTION 1: Name

The name of the organization shall be the **Merrymeeting Wheelers Bicycle Club**, hereinafter referred to as the **`WHEELERS**' or the **`CLUB**'.

SECTION 2: Location and Colors

The WHEELERS shall be a non-profit organization, incorporated under the laws of the State of Maine and based in the Mid Coast Maine area. The colors shall be blue and green.

ARTICLE II

<u>Mission</u>

The purpose of the organization is to provide support to area cyclists in the following areas:

- a) To encourage and promote recreational riding activities as part of a healthy lifestyle and practical means of transportation.
- b) To promote public awareness of the benefits of cycling.
- c) To conduct and support fund-raising events in support of our mission.
- d) To work with local schools, municipalities and benevolent organizations in promoting cycling and cycling safety programs.
- e) To generate a positive and cooperative atmosphere within the local area that will be advantageous to cycling.
- f) To support local, State and national bicycling and trail organizations, and to advocate for increased support for cycling among the general public, government agencies and elected officials.
- g) To provide social opportunities for members.

ARTICLE III

Membership

SECTION 1: Eligibility

Membership is open to individuals and families, who enjoy riding and have a desire to promote the various club purposes and bicycling in general.

SECTION 2: Types of Membership

a) **Individual Membership** – An individual membership shall be established for anyone of legal age or a minor having the written permission of his/her parent or legal guardian to join the Club and participate in Club activities.

of the

MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB

- b) **Family Membership** A family membership shall be established for any person who is the age of eighteen (18) or older, his/her spouse/domestic partner, and any of their children who are the age of eighteen (18) or younger and/or are accepted into or presently attending an accredited postsecondary education institution. Parent or Guardian's signature is necessary for approval of membership for those individuals under eighteen (18) years of age.
- c) **Life Membership** Any former club President and his/her current spouse/domestic partner and any of their children who are the age of eighteen (18) or younger and/or are accepted into or presently attending an accredited post-secondary education institution, or anyone previously voted by the board Life membership status.

SECTION 3: Voting

Each Individual member shall have one (1) vote, and each Family or Life membership shall have a maximum of two (2) votes. Each member(ship) must be in good standing (see Article III, Section 6) to vote.

SECTION 4: Dues

The Board of Directors shall recommend the amount of dues with any changes to be approved by a simple majority of voting members present at an annual meeting. Annual dues are payable on April $1_{\rm st}$.

SECTION 5: Application for Membership

a) Membership is established by submitting an application and payment of dues. All members shall sign a liability waiver annually. In the case of a minor, a parent or guardian shall complete the liability waiver. It is the responsibility of each member to provide the club's Membership Director with their current email and/or regular mail address(s).

SECTION 6: Suspension of Membership

- a) **Failure to Pay Dues** Membership shall be suspended for failure to renew if annual dues have not been received by June 15th of each year. Members suspended for failure to pay their annual dues may be reinstated after subsequent repayment is received.
- b) **Discipline** The Board, at its discretion, may suspend any member found to be a detriment to the WHEELERS. Considerations for suspension may include, but are not limited to, disregard for safety guidelines, violation of CLUB policies and misuse of CLUB assets.

of the

MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB

SECTION 7: Membership Meetings

- a) **Annual Meeting** An annual meeting of the general membership shall be held in March for the purpose of electing officers and directors and conducting other items of business stipulated in the Bylaws. At least thirty (30) days notice regarding the time and place of the meeting shall be given to all members by regular and/or electronic mail. The notice shall include an absentee ballot, an agenda and the text of all items to be voted on by the membership. A quorum for the annual meeting shall be ten (10 %) percent of the membership in good standing, including absentee ballots.
- b) **A simple majority** of the voting membership present (in person or via absentee) shall be used to determine the outcome of any ballot motions and/or elections.
- c) **Special Membership Meetings** Special meetings of the membership may be called by a simple majority of the Board or by written petition to the Board signed by at least ten percent of the WHEELERS membership. At least seven days notice regarding the time and place of the meeting shall be given to all members by regular and/or electronic mail. The notice for a special meeting shall clearly state the purpose of the meeting and no other business shall be transacted at the meeting. A quorum for a Special Meeting shall be ten (10) percent of the membership in good standing, including absentee ballots.

ARTICLE IV

Governance

SECTION 1 - Board Structure and Authority

The Board of Directors shall consist of four (4) elected officers and four (4) Directors and the Immediate Past President. The management of the WHEELERS shall be vested in the Board which shall have all the powers and authority as may be necessary to carry out the purpose and goals of the WHEELERS as stated in these bylaws and consistent with applicable laws and regulations.

SECTION 2 - Board Responsibilities

To promote the WHEELERS' interests and activities, the Board shall have the authority to conduct all lawful affairs of the WHEELERS including, but not limited to, entering into necessary contracts, leases or other agreements; establishing committees, enacting rules and policies; and taking on additional duties as the Board may deem appropriate.

of the

MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB

<u>SECTION 3 - Board Meetings</u>

WHEELERS business shall be conducted at regularly scheduled meetings of the Board, which will be open to all members and invited guests unless a meeting is closed by a majority vote of the Board members and a declaration of the President. Non-board members who attend Board meetings may be asked to participate in the form of opinions but are without voting privileges.

- a) **Schedule and Location** The Board shall hold regular meetings throughout the year at a time and location they shall determine at the first meeting of the fiscal year. Alternate dates and locations may be designated by the Board provided at least seven (7) days notice is given to Board members and the membership in manner deemed appropriate by the Board.
- b) **Quorum** The presence of at least five (5) of the nine (9) members of the Board shall be required at any Board meeting to conduct official CLUB business. A board member can attend meetings via any remote method available such as via phone or web link. A favorable vote of the majority of the Board, based on the filled Board positions, whether present or not, shall be required to constitute action by the Board. For example, in the case of a full Board should only five (5) members of the Board be in attendance at a meeting, all five (5) would need to agree to carry any proposed motions.

Each vacant Board position shall reduce the Quorum calculation ratio as follows:

- One (1) board vacancy equates to a calculation of five (5) of eight (8) Two (2) board vacancies equates to a calculation of four (4) of seven (7) Three (3) board vacancies equates to a calculation of four (4) of six (6)
- Three (3) board vacancies equates to a calculation of four (4) or six (0)
- c) Special Board Meetings Special Board meetings may be called by the President or by a majority of the Board. At least seven (7) days notice shall be given to Board members and the membership in manner deemed appropriate by the Board. The notice for a special meeting shall clearly state the purpose or purposes of the meeting and no other business shall be transacted at the meeting.
- d) **Joint Meeting** A joint meeting of all outgoing and incoming Officers and Directors shall be held prior to the beginning of the fiscal year to facilitate the transfer of responsibilities to the incoming Board.

of the

MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB

SECTION 4 - Duties of Officers and Directors

- a) **President (Officer)** The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Club and shall provide over all direction and leadership for the Board and membership overseeing the implementation of programs and activities that support the Club Mission Statement, preside at meetings of the Club and the Board and present a report of the Club's activities at the annual meeting.
- b) Vice President (Officer) The Vice-President shall substitute for the President in his/her absence and shall supervise annual nominations and elections.
- c) **Secretary (Officer)** The Secretary shall record and publish the minutes of all Club meetings and shall maintain the Standing Rules book.
- d) **Treasurer (Officer)** The Treasurer shall be responsible for all financial aspects of the Club including receiving and disbursing funds, maintaining an accurate accounting of all financial transactions and preparation of appropriate financial reports. Chair of the Budget and Strategic Planning Committee.
- e) **Membership and Social Director** The Membership Director shall promote membership in the Club, process membership applications, welcome and introduce new members to the Club and maintain membership records. Chair of the Membership Committee.
- f) **Ride and Events Director** The Ride Director shall be responsible for coordinating and managing all facets of Club rides including ride development, a ride calendar and ride/rider policies. Chair of the Ride and Events Committee.
- g) **Communications Director** The Communications Director shall be responsible for all external and internal publicity including the club newsletter and the promotion of the Club and its activities to the membership and general public. In addition, the Communication Director shall appoint and oversee the Website Coordinator and shall be responsible for the Club website including content, maintenance and liaison with the website service provider. Chair of Communications Committee.
- h) **Safety and Education Director** The Safety and Education Director shall be responsible for promoting bicycle safety and education amongst members. Chair of Safety and Education Committee
- i) Immediate Past President (Director) The Immediate Past President shall provide the Board and Committees the benefit of experience and institutional memory, and shall, upon direction of the President, perform duties appropriate to his office.

of the

MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB

SECTION 5 - Nominations and Elections

- a) **Nominations** A nominating committee shall be appointed by the Board at its November meeting and shall consist of the Vice President, a minimum of one other Board member and a minimum of one (1) member at large. Candidates for office shall be adult Club members and have given the nominating committee their consent prior to becoming a nominee.
- b) Elections The proposed slate of Officers and Directors shall be presented to the membership at least thirty (30) days prior to the annual meeting regarding the time and place of the meeting by email and/or regular mail. Additional nominations may also be made from the floor at the Annual Meeting provided the nominees are Club members in good standing and have given their consent to becoming a candidate. The election of Officers and Directors, either by show of hands or written ballots, shall be by a simple majority of voting members in attendance and via absentee ballot at the Annual Meeting.

SECTION 6 - Terms of Office

a) **Terms of Office** – All Officers and Directors shall serve for a term of two (2) years with an exception being the Treasurer who shall serve a term of three (3) years. The term begins at the adjournment of the annual meeting following their election with the exception of the first year following the adoption of these Bylaws which shall be as follows:

Role	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Etc	Etc
President	Α	Α	В	В	С	С	D
Vice President	Α	Α	В	В	С	C	D
Treasurer	Α	Α	Α	В	В	В	С
Secretary	Α	В	В	С	С	D	D
Immediate Past President	Α	Α	В	В	С	С	D
Membership & Social Director	Α	В	В	С	С	D	D
Ride & Events Director	Α	В	В	С	С	D	D
Communications Director	Α	Α	В	В	С	C	D
Safety& Education Director	Α	В	В	С	С	D	D
Role Change	2+4*	4	4	5	4	4	5

^{*4} new roles at introduction

of the

MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB

b) **Term Limitation** – The four (4) officers of the Club shall be limited to two (2) consecutive two (2) year terms in the same position with exception being the Treasurer who shall be limited to two (2) terms of three (3) years. This can be extended if a continuation motion is approved by a majority vote of the remaining Board members and approved by a simple majority of voting members at the annual meeting.

SECTION 7: Vacancies

Any vacancies occurring on the Board shall be filled by a majority vote of the remaining members of the Board and the appointment shall be effective until the term of the position being filled expires.

SECTION 8: Removal from Office

An Officer or Director may be removed for cause by a super (60%) majority vote of the Board or by a majority of voting members present or by absentee at an Annual Meeting or Special Meeting provided at least ten (10) percent of the voting members of the Club membership are present.

ARTICLE V

Committees

SECTION 1: Standing Committees

The CLUB shall have the following Standing Committees:

- a) Budget and Strategic Planning Committee is chaired by the Treasurer and is staffed by the President, Vice president, Secretary and Immediate Past President and other invited guests.
- b) Membership and Social Committee is chaired by the Membership and Social Committee Director and is open to all club members.
- c) Ride and Events Committee is chaired by the Ride and Events Director and is open to all interested club members.
- d) Communications Committee is chaired by the Communications Director and is open to all interested club members.
- e) Safety and Education Committee is chaired by the Safety and Education Director and is open to all interested club members.

<u>SECTION 2 - Special Committees</u>

Special Committees may be established by the Board to assist the Board in the completion of particular projects. Such Special Committees shall have a specific purpose defined by the Board and when that task is completed the committee shall be dissolved.

of the

MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB

ARTICLE VI

Standing Rules

SECTION 1: Purpose of Standing Rules

Standing Rules shall contain operational procedures, policies and practices of the Club not otherwise specified in its Articles of Incorporation or bylaws and shall be binding upon its membership. In no case shall a Standing Rule conflict with the Articles of Incorporation, bylaws or other Standing Rules of the Club.

SECTION 2: Establishment of Standing Rules

Standing Rules may be proposed by any member of the Board or proposed to the Board by any Club member at regular Board meetings. A majority vote of all members of the Board shall be required to adopt Standing Rules as in Article III, SECTION 3 (b).

SECTION 3: Ratification by the Membership

At the annual meeting, all Standing Rules adopted by the Board during the previous year will be presented to the membership for enactment, amendment or rescission. The list of such Standing Rules shall be prepared by the Secretary and circulated to the membership prior to the Annual Meeting. Ratification shall be by a simple majority of the voting members of the Club present. Prior to ratification by the membership Standing Rules approved by the Board shall be binding on the Club.

SECTION 4: Standing Rules Book

The Secretary shall keep the Standing Rules in a book specifically designated for this purpose.

SECTION 5: Robert's Rules of Order

All board meetings, annual meetings and special meetings shall be governed by and adhered to Robert's Rules of Order – Simplified Version; however, departures from such Rules shall not invalidate any actions taken at these meetings.

ARTICLE VII

Administration and Financial Procedures SECTION 1: Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the Club shall be from the first day of April to the last day of March.

SECTION 2: Use of Funds

All funds of the Club shall be deposited to the credit of the Club in such banks or other depositories that the Board may select. Funds not needed for the immediate operations of the Club shall be kept in interest bearing savings accounts, certificates of deposit or similar instruments and reserved for unique projects, grants or other special purposes that may be determined by the Board.

of the

MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB

SECTION 3: Financial Reviews

At the end of each fiscal year, the financial records and fiscal operating procedures of the Club shall be reviewed by a committee appointed by the Board consisting of the President, one other Board member and one member at large.

SECTION 4: Access to Records

All summaries, notes, minutes, formal communications and other records of the Club shall be open to inspection and accessible to all Club members. Copies shall be provided upon request at cost.

SECTION 5: Effective Date

These bylaws shall become effective on the first day of the fiscal year following their ratification by the membership.

SECTION 6: Amendments

Amendments to these bylaws may be proposed by the Board of Directors or by the membership at an annual or special meeting. All amendments must be ratified by a two-thirds (2/3) majority of the voting members present at the next annual meeting or special meeting called for that purpose.

SECTION 7: Dissolution

In the event that the members vote at an annual meeting or Special Membership Meeting to dissolve the CLUB, the Board shall present recommendations for the distribution of all remaining debt-free assets for consideration by the membership at that meeting or Special Membership Meeting called for the purpose of dissolution of the CLUB. Any remaining assets shall be given to another non-profit group or groups supporting bicycling in Maine. A simple majority of voting CLUB members present shall determine the final distribution of said assets.

ARTICLE VIII

Expenditures and Charitable Donations

a) Officers, with the President's approval, have authority to approve expenditures for daily operation of Club up to \$250. Expenditures from \$250-\$1,250 require Board approval. Expenditures above \$1,250 require approval at annual meeting or special membership meeting. The one exception of this requirement for membership approval of above \$1,250.00 expenditures is the annual meeting cost.

of the

MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB

- b) Charitable Donations The Board shall have the authority, from time to time, to make charitable contributions, donations or render other financial support with club funds (referred to herein as "GIFT(s)"), subject to the following guidelines and restrictions:
- 1) Each Gift proposal considered by the Board must be reviewed at a regular Board of Directors' meeting. Approval for funding of any GIFT will require approval by a majority vote of the Board.
- 2) The Board shall only make GIFTS to individuals and/or organizations conditioned upon furthering the Club's purpose as set forth in Article II hereunder. No GIFT shall be made to any individual or organization for a purpose other than to promote, either directly or indirectly, the interests of the Club and its membership. Any GIFT, regardless of size, with the anticipated purpose of promoting interests outside the local communities served, must be approved by a majority vote of the membership in attendance at the annual Club meeting during which such GIFT is presented by the Board for approval.
- 3) The Board shall cause to be published a list of all approved GIFTS in the Club newsletter.

ARTICLE IX

Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Each person who is or was a Director or Officer of the Club, or who serves or may have served at the request of the Club (i.e.: ride leaders), and who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed claim, action, suit or proceeding, whether criminal, civil, administrative or investigative, including appeals, shall be indemnified by the Club as a matter of right to the full extent permitted or authorized by the State of Maine, as it may from time to time be amended, against any expense (including attorney's fee), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement, actually and reasonably incurred by him/her in his/her capacity as a Director or Officer, or arising out of his/her status as a Director or Officer, or as one who serves or may have served at the request of the CLUB.

BYLAWS of the MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB

MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB STANDING RULE #1 – January 2012

In conjunction with Article VIII of the ByLaws, the following guidelines and procedures are adopted for requests for MWBC grants, charitable contributions and other financial support (GIFTS).

It is the wish of the Board of Directors that the financial support of MWBC be involved in promoting the mission of the Club in Brunswick and the surrounding communities.

The MWBC especially seeks to support projects on a cost sharing basis in which small GIFTS will make a significant difference.

Requests may be submitted on the short application which follows. Applications for GIFTS must be submitted by mail or by hand delivery with an original and eight (8) copies. Additional materials may also be attached so that the Board may adequately weigh the merits of the request. A meeting with the applicant can be scheduled, but is not normally necessary.

BYLAWS of the MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB

MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB

APPLICATION for FINANCIAL SUPPORT

Page (1) of (2)

ORGANIZATION BACKGROUND Legal Name of Your Organization:):	
Address		
Phone #	Fax #	
E-mail		
Contact Name and Title		
Your Mission and Service Area		
Sources of Funding Web Site		
PROJECT INFORMATION: Specific Purpose		
How does your Request Further MV	VBC's Mission?	
Geographic Area and Population Be	nefiting	
Initial Project Schedule and any Co	ntinuation	
Total Project Budget Method of Evaluating Project Succe	SS	
Signature	Date	
Printed Name	тТ	itle

(Note: Brief additional material may be appended to this application.)

of the

MERRYMEETING WHEELERS BICYCLE CLUB

The Merrymeeting Wheelers Bicycle Club (MWBC) Application for Financial Support

Page (2) of (2)

The Applicant hereby certifies the following:

- 1. Any GIFT received as a result of this application will be used only for activities, operations or purposes within the State of Maine.
- 2. Any GIFT received as a result of this application will be used only for the specific project described in the application.
- 3. Any GIFT received as a result of this application will not be used to attempt to influence legislation or any political campaign.
- 4. The Applicant will administer and supervise the expenditure of all funds received as a result of this grant application, and no funds will be transferred to another organization.
- 5. If a GIFT is received, the Applicant will provide a brief final report to MWBC describing the results achieved as a result of the GIFT.

Appli	cant
Ву:	
_,.	(Signature)
Dated	1
Printe	ed Name
Title	

This original Application and eight (8) copies should be MAILED OR HAND- DELIVERED to the following address:

Merrymeeting Wheelers Bicycle Club PO Box 233 Brunswick, ME 04011